APPENDIX 5

Comparative Review of the 

May 28th Conversation Transcripts

[Please refer to icons  in Defeat of Ritvik-vada for cross-referenced and summarized comments on the key numbered items below.]

In order to provide an easy comparative reference for the eight versions of the May 28th Conversation transcript being discussed here, we offer a line-by-line comparative study.  The numbered lines correspond to the eight different versions:

1) FOLIO 2.0 (1990) and VEDABASE 4.11  (1997) *

2) VERSION #1 FROM SURREALIST.ORG TRANSCRIPT
3) VERSION #2 FROM SURREALIST.ORG TRANSCRIPT
4) COMBINED VERSION (USED IN BODY OF TFO)
5) VERSION IN TFO APPENDICES
6) 1995: GURUS AND INITIATION IN ISKCON (GII)  (GBC)
7) 1994: CONTINUING THE PARAMPARA (SIVARAMA SWAMI)
8) OUR TRANSCRIPT, INTERPRETED FROM THE AUDIO
[*  The only difference between the texts presented by Bhaktivedanta Archives in Folio 2.0 (1990) and Vedabase 4.11 (1997) is the spelling of diksa (1990) vs. diksha (1997).  The Folio 2.0 (1990) version is identical to the one used in the GBC paper, "Disciple of My Disciple" [31]
Depending on the version, there are between 16 and 19 lines of dialogue in the portion of the transcript being dealt with here.  Bold blue indicates variations in text.  Bold red indicates the variations we, the authors, accept in our own interpreted transcript of the audio recording.  Variations in punctuation and capitalization have not been highlighted, although there are many.  

How a sentence is punctuated has a great deal to do with how it is read and interpreted. To the best of our knowledge, audio copies of the May 28th Conversation have not been published by the Bhaktivedanta Archives, therefore many devotees have not had an opportunity to listen to the speaker's tone and inflection, and come to their own determination about what punctuation is most reflective of the speakers' intent.   They have only been able to look at the punctuation used (and not used) in the various transcriptions, and they may or may not recognize that the bias of the transcriber is reflected therein.  In other words, interpreting the May 28th Conversation is a subjective matter made all the more open to interpretation when one relies on a transcript alone, without benefit of comparing it to the audio version.  We have included audio copies of the Conversation in Appendices.  [APX-7a] 
Along with the line-by-line analysis presented below are a number of sectional grammar and syntax charts, built from TFO's combined transcript version.  There has been a great deal of discussion over the years about what lines of this May 28th Conversation were in first or third tense, whether references were singular or plural, etc.  In some cases, grammar and syntax interpretations have become fundamental to arguments in support of the Rtvik conclusion.  We offer this comparative study in order to underscore just how speculative the process of interpreting the May 28th Conversation has been over the last 34 years.  

LINE 1 – SATSVARUPA GOSWAMI:

1) Then our next question concerns initiations in the future, particularly at that time when you're no longer with us. We want to know how first and second 


initiation would be conducted.


2) Then our next question concerns initiations in the future, particularly at that time when you are no longer with us. We want to know how first and second initiations would be conducted.


3) Then our next question concerns initiations in the future.  Particularly at that time when you are no longer with us. We want to know how first and second initiation would be conducted.


4) Then our next question concerns initiations in the future, particularly at that time when you are no longer with us. We want to know how first and second initiation(s) would be conducted.


5) Then our next question concerns initiations in the future, particularly at that time when you are no longer with us. We want to know how first and second initiations will be conducted.


6) Then our next question concerns initiations in the future, particularly at that time when you're no longer with us. We want to know how first and second  


initiation would be conducted.


7) Then our next question concerns initiations in the future, particularly at that time when you are no longer with us. We want to know how first and second initiations would be conducted.

8) Then our next question concerns initiations in the future, particularly at that time when you're no longer with us. We want to know how first and second initiation(s) would be conducted.  
	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	Then our next question concerns initiations in the future,


	Then our [plural, possessive adjective, 1st person] next question concerns initiations in the future, [noun, not verb indicating tense 

	particularly at that time when you are no longer with us. We want to know how
	when you [singular subject pronoun, 2nd person] are no longer with us [plural object pronoun, 1st person]. We [plural subject pronoun, 1st person] want to know how



	first and second initiation(s) would be conducted.


	first and second initiation(s) would [conditional proposition, future time] be conducted.




Here, Satsvarupa is speaking in 1st person.  TFO offers no comment on Satsvarupa's use of tense or pronoun, but simply asserts that whatever follows will be particularly relevant to after Srila Prabhupada's departure.

The variation between you are and the conjunction, you're has no impact on meaning.  

The variation between singular initiation and plural initiations can have two meanings: the object of plurality being first and second initiations as a class or type of initiations; or as a reference to more than one occasion of initiations.  

The most significant variation in this sentence is would be versus will be.  Of the eight examples, seven say "would", including our own interpretation of the audio.

Known as conditional verb forms, will is first conditional, and would is second conditional.  These conditionals clearly relate to future tense (when you are no longer with us).  The nature of the first conditional, "how first and second initiations will be conducted", is open, i.e., the condition is possible. If will was used in present tense, it would indicate an imperative rather than a possibility (e.g., you will do this).  The second conditional verb form, would, in future tense, indicates an improbable or uncertain situation, e.g., 'this would happen if…'
In the context of this sentence, the improbability factor of "how first and second initiations would be conducted" is most likely associated with the uncertainty of Srila Prabhupada's departure:  if you departed, then how would initiations be handled?  There is nothing else in this sentence, or in near context statements to indicate that the probability factor hinges on something else.

As pointed out in "Disciple of my Disciple" [31], given the phrasing of Satsvarup's question, it is possible that the question refers both to initiations during Srila Prabhupada's presence, and after his departure.
LINE 2 – SRILA PRABHUPADA:

1) Yes. I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up, I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acaryas.


2) Yes. I shall recommend some of you, after this is settled up.  I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya.


3) Yes. I shall recommend some of you.  After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya.


4) Yes. I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya(s).


5) Yes. I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up. I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya.


6) Yes. I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up, I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acaryas.


7) Yes. I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up. I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya. 

8) Yes. I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya(s).

	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	Yes. I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up


	I [singular subject pronoun, 1st person] shall [simple verb, future tense] recommend some of you



	I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya(s).


	I [singular subject pronoun, 1st person] shall [simple verb, future tense] recommend some of you [plural object pronoun, 2nd person]




Prabhupada speaks in 1st person, responding to Satsvarupa, also speaking in 1st person.  

In the variation between the singular acarya and plural acaryas, the object of plurality appears to be indicated two places in the sentence:  some of you.  Obviously, the plural acaryas refers to multiple persons, and not to multiple roles that a single person might engage in.  

(a)  The greater question, which is very relevant to the guru-tattva debate, is whether or not Srila Prabhupada's statement meant that the singular role of acarya was to be filled by a group of persons, acting together as acarya, much like the GBC members purport to act as a singular Governing Body.

(a)  The statement, After this is settled up, which is shown with varying punctuation, is also open to interpretation.  What does this refer to?  This immediate section of the dialogue about how initiations will be conducted after Prabhupada's departure?   Does this also include the discussion about GBC members?  Does it extend further back in the conversation, to include the discussion about Krsna-Balarama Trust trustees?  Or does it encompass the broader discussion of Srila Prabhupada's arrangements for his departure? 

Inherent to the statement, After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya(s), is the implication that the timing of events has some significance.  Recommendations will be made after some other event or series of events.  We can assume Srila Prabhupada had a reason for the ordering of events.  The point is, this is left open to interpretation because the statement itself does not specifically tell us after what?  

The May 28th dialogue specifically says the officiating acarya(s) (ritvik acaryas) will be recommended "After this is settled up."  Not that they are, in that moment, being recommended or ordered to action.  
LINE 3 – TAMAL KRSNA:  

1) Is that called rtvik-acarya?


2) Is that called ritvik acarya?

3) Is that called ritvik acarya?

4) Is that called ritvik acarya?


5) Is that called ritvik -acarya?


6) Is that called rtvik-acarya?


7) Is that called ritvik acarya? 

8) Is that called ritvik acarya?

Here we have a variation in spelling:  rtvik versus ritvik, dependent solely upon the transcriber's choice.  Most importantly, in transcript version #2 from Surrealist.org we have an editing strikethrough that removes this entire sentence from the dialogue.

(a)  Srila Prabhupada has said, "I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya(s)."  Tamal Krsna confirms, "Is that called ritvik acarya?"  In the next sentence, Srila Prabhupada confirms, "Ritvik. Yes."
What is Tamal Krsna referring to with the word that?  "Is that called ritvik acarya?"  

Clearly, that refers to the officiating acarya(s) Srila Prabhupada has just mentioned.  And what will those officiating acarya(s) be doing?  They will be conducting first and second initiations after Srila Prabhupada is no longer with us.  There is no other explanation.

Will these officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya(s) also be serving as non-initiating assistants while Srila Prabhupada is still here?  No, that is not said.  No such thing has been said by Srila Prabhupada.  Therefore, to point to mention of rittik representatives of the acarya in the July 9th Letter, and say they are one and the same persons as the officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya(s) mentioned on May 28th, is an absolute contrivance.  
(b)  In his confirming question, "Is that called ritvik acarya?", Tamal Krsna seeks clarification of the noun, acarya, which Prabhupada just described with the adjective, officiating.  This is the type of acarya being referred to.  Thus, Tamal Krsna clarifies by suggesting another descriptive adjective, ritvik.  Again, this adjective is a descriptor of the noun, acarya.  Yet in the July 9th Letter, both the Ritvik-vadis and the GBC ignore the noun -- which is the root of the message.  They ignore the absence of acarya in the Letter, focusing instead on the adjective ritvik, because that's the word they  say bridges the May 28th Conversation to the July 9th Letter.  But this 'bridge' is only a describing adjective… the noun is missing.  Actually, in the July 9th Letter, a new noun is provided:  representative.  Not acarya.  The representative is not giving diksa initiations, but is assisting the acarya.  The acarya will  himself be a diksa guru -- but no such authorization was given to anyone.
There is nothing to support the claim that the rittik representatives of the acarya in the July 9th Letter are one and the same persons as the officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya(s) mentioned on May 28th.  That assertion is false.  And this falsity is the lynchpin of the asiddhantic interpretations that have manifested in ISKCON, in the form of Rtvik-vada, Zonal Acarya-ism, and Guru Rubber-Stamp Diksa.  

LINE 4 – SRILA PRABHUPADA:  

1) Rtvik, yes.


2) Ritvik. Yes.


3) Ritvik. Yes.

4) ritvik. Yes.


5) ritvik. Yes.


6) Rtvik, yes.


7) Ritvik. Yes.

8) Ritvik. Yes.

Again, we have the variation in spelling, rtvik versus ritvik, and another strikethrough, removing the sentence that is paired with the previous strikethrough. 

LINE 5 – SATSVARUPA GOSWAMI:  

1) Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and the...

2) What is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and...


3) What is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and the...


4) (Then) What is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and ...


5) What is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and...


6) Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and the...

7) What is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and ...

8) Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and the…?
	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	(Then) What is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and ...


	(Then) What is the relationship of that person [singular subject pronoun, 3rd person, or self-referencing third person] who gives [subject verb; subject person is acting] the initiation




Satsvarupa has now switched to 3rd person referential.  If he were addressing Srila Prabhupada, it would be proper for him to speak in 2nd person reference.  Given that Satsvarupa also expects to be involved in initiations, that person could also be considered self-referential third person.  

(a)  The verb in lines 2 refers to future tense (I shall).  Likewise, the subject verb in this line, who gives, also refers to future tense.  Nothing indicates that future is before or after Prabhupada's departure - only that it's after he has recommended some (Then what).       

In this sentence, there is variation in the first word of the sentence, Then, which is included in only half of the transcript versions.  Our interpretation of the audio recording is that the word Then does begin the sentence.  The recording also indicates that there is no pause between Srila Prabhupada's answer, Ritvik. Yes, and Satsvarupa's next question.  In other words, there was little time for Satsvarupa to consider the meaning of the unfamiliar (in this context) term ritvik, and ask this sort of qualifying question.  

In this context, then is a conjunctive adverb, used in grammar to create a complex relationship between ideas.  In this case, the relationship is one of time sequence.  In the May 28th dialogue, this conjunctive adverb relates the question to a prior statement:  "I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya(s)."  Then is read to mean in that context:  then (progressive/time) what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation?

(b)  The variable addition of the at the end of the sentence does not identify a subject.  The speaker would most likely be assumed to refer to the initiated disciple.  Clearly the would not be referring to the officiating or ritvik acarya, who has just been defined as the one(s) giving initiation.  And it is unlikely the speaker would be referring to Srila Prabhupada because he was personally present to the conversation, thus, the speaker would have said you, or Srila Prabhupada, not the.   

LINE 6 – SRILA PRABHUPADA:  

1) He's guru. He's guru.


2) He's guru. He's guru.


3) He's guru. He's guru.


4) He's guru. He's guru.


5) He's guru. He's guru.


6) He's guru. He's guru.


7) He's guru. He's guru.

8) He's guru. 

	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	He's guru. He's guru.


	He's [singular subject pronoun, 3rd person] guru.




(c)  Keep in mind that Satsvarupa first spoke in 1st person, then switched to 3rd person, although it would have been correct syntax for him to address Srila Prabhupada in 2nd person, rather than third.  Therefore, it is not at all unusual that Prabhupada would reply to him in third person, which simply indicates that he is following the questioner's use of pronoun.  
(d)  The notion that Srila Prabhupada is suddenly referring to himself because he switched to 3rd person along with Satsvarupa is further disproved by the previous question: ((Then) What is the relationship of that person).  Given that we have established the dialogue up to now as being in future tense, the "he" in "he's guru" clearly refers to someone existing after Prabhupada's departure.

Nonetheless, TFO insists that Prabhupada is referring to himself as guru.  They assert that he must mean himself, because ritviks by definition aren't initiators.  (Although up to this point, "ritviks" have not been defined at all in reference to initiations.)  TFO suggests that Prabhupada often spoke of himself in 3rd person, so why not here?  [Appt Tape ¶ 24]  (Although that has nothing to do with interpreting this statement.)  And they suggest that Satsvarupa was talking in 3rd person (implying self-referential) at this point [Appt Tape ¶ 24], therefore Prabhupada must be referring to himself.  But as the above study of this entire conversation demonstrates, the use of tense and person is anomalous throughout; it does not follow strict rules of grammar.  Nonetheless, evidence with respect to meaning exists in the unfolding statements made in the dialogue.
TFO presents one further argument in support of the notion that Srila Prabhupada means himself, He's guru, which we address later in the order of the dialogue, under Line 11.  

From the transcript, here in Line 6 it appears that either Srila Prabhupada interrupted the question to give the answer, or the questioner (Satsvarupa) didn't finish the question and an answer was given nonetheless.  By our interpretation of the audio recording [APX-7a], Srila Prabhupada does not repeat "He's guru.  He's guru."  twice.  He simply says it once:  "He's guru."  
While the answer cannot be taken to modify the question, the answer does qualify the question from the respondent's (Prabhupada's) point of view.  Srila Prabhupada appears to have clearly understood that the subject of the is 'the initiated disciple'.  His answer to the question - what is the relationship - is not, 'they are guru/disciple'.  Rather, his answer refers to only one party in the relationship:  "He's guru".  (This singular answer must also be considered with respect to the question of singularity vs. plurality mentioned at (a))
Because future tense has been established in the conversation, and the future has been established as being after Prabhupada's departure, for SP to suddenly refer to himself in 3rd person as "He's guru" makes no sense.  Even if the reason he had switched tense was not to match Satsvarup (as we've already shown was the case), it would still make no sense for him to suddenly interject himself as "He's guru'" into a conversation that's supposed to be about a time when he's no longer present -- and to do this without a word of clarification or explanation.  

In many discussions about the May 28th Conversation, the devotees speculate as to how phrases can be interpreted to show that Srila Prabhupada was (or was not) referring to himself in a way that will (or will not) support the notion of a post-samadhi rtvik diksa system.  This Conversation, along with the July 9th Letter, is central to the guru-tattva debate, thus the interpretive questions we are dealing with here are very relevant when attempting to set aside ambiguity and speculation and arrive at the most logical, factual, commonsense interpretation of the dialogue.  

If we segregate only this one question and answer sequence:

Q:  Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and the...

A:  He's guru.

the variable interpretations contained in the statements are:

Q:  Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation (officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya) and the (initiated disciple)...

A:  He's (the officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya') guru. 

In context, this must be understood as referring to both first and second initiations after Srila Prabhupada's departure.  Why?   Because in his opening query, Satsvarup specified:  "our next question concerns initiations in the future, particularly at that time when you're no longer with us. We want to know how first and second initiation(s) would be conducted."
In the unlikely event that in this query, "Then what is the relationship…", Satsvarup was referring to Srila Prabhupada, referring to him as the rather than as you or as Srila Prabhupada, the syntax would have to be this:

Q:  Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation (officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya) and the (Founder-Acarya/you/Srila Prabhupada)...

A:  He's (the Founder-Acarya you/Srila Prabhupada) guru. 

(b)  Not only is there nothing to indicate that Satsvarupa was referring to Srila Prabhupada rather than to the initiated disciple, but this Q&A is specifically in reference to initiations after Srila Prabhupada' departure.  This is further reinforced by the statement that follows: "But he does it on your behalf", which again indicates Satsvarupa's assumption that 'He's guru' does not refer to Srila Prabhupada.  

Despite all this evidence to the contrary, the conversation up to this point is typically interpreted by Rtviks to support the Rtvik-vada conclusion that in the May 28th Conversation, Srila Prabhupada is instructing that ritvik acarya(s) will be giving first and second initiations after his departure – a post-samadhi rtvik diksa system.    
In fact, the Rtviks must come to this contrived conclusion because not doing so would go against their own self-definition as "ritviks".  In other words, the Rtvik-vadis say that the rtvik priests are NOT diksa gurus, rather they are siksa gurus initiating on Srila Prabhupada's behalf, and Prabhupada is the only diksa guru.  Consequently, they are forced to interpret the statement, "He's guru" to mean SP is referring to himself, even though this is a completely nonsensical interpretation, as we prove below [see (c)] 
Again, this evidence, combined with the Ritviks' interpretation of the July 9th Letter, is the core foundation of their Rtvik-vada position.  We have already provided a conclusive rebuttal of the July 9th Letter pillar of their argument, proving that it does not in any way refer to a post-samadhi rtvik diksa system.  And as we proceed through the remainder of this May 28th Conversation, we will show that likewise, the Conversation does not support the post-samadhi rtvik diksa conclusion.  Taken together, these rebuttal arguments thoroughly refute the Rtvik-vada position.
Before moving on to the next line of dialogue, let us consider this exchange from one more perspective:

Q:  Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and the...

A:  He's guru.

Why did Srila Prabhupada interrupt Satsvarupa's question?  Because he knew what was being asked even before the question was completed?  Because he knew the questioner's intention in asking it?

What range of answers might Satsvarupa have expected to get to this question?  There are only three obvious answers: 

1) the initiated person is a direct disciple of the initiator; 

2) the initiated person is a direct disciple of Srila Prabhupada; or 

3) the initiated person has some other unknown status 

ISKCON history from the time of Srila Prabhupada's departure clearly shows that the senior men were anxious, if not hell-bent on becoming diksa gurus themselves.  The Zonal Acarya system they quickly implemented proves it.  Therefore, it is only logical to assume that the answer Satsvarupa was hoping to get was #1:  The initiated person is a direct disciple of the initiator – they themselves, not Srila Prabhupada.  

(a)  The Rtvik-vadis argue that throughout Srila Prabhupada's lila, the word ritvik and its derivations was used often enough to be understood; it was not a rare or totally unfamiliar word.  But this dialogue indicates that Satsvarupa did not understand the meaning of ritvik well enough to be certain that it applied to a post-samadhi rtvik diksa system in which officiating acaryas initiated on the part of the departed Spiritual Master, and the disciples were the departed guru's diksa disciples.  In other words, it appears that the question was asked in hopes of a getting a particular answer.  
In this May 28th Conversation, Srila Prabhupada has just been asked, and in response affirmed that he was referring to Rtvik (rtvik-acarya(s)).  Nonetheless, Satsvarupa pressed on with the question, "Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and the..."?  Srila Prabhupada replied, "He's guru.  He's guru."   Srila Prabhupada did not say 'siksa guru', or 'diksa guru'.  Just 'guru'.  After which Satsvarupa continued his inquiry:

LINE 7 – SATSVARUPA GOSWAMI:  

1) But he does it on your behalf.


2) But he does it on your behalf.


3) But he does it on your behalf.


4) But he does it on your behalf.


5) But he does it on your behalf.


6) But he does it on your behalf.


7) But he does it on your behalf.

8) But he does it on your behalf.  

	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	But he does it on your behalf.


	he [singular subject pronoun, 3rd person] does it [verb, future continuous] on your [singular object pronoun, 2nd person] behalf.


When Satsvarupa refers to "he", his tense matches Srila Prabhupada's last comment:  singular subject pronoun, 3rd person.  

Satsvarupa:   (Then) What is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and ...


Prabhupada:  He's guru. He's guru.


Satsvarupa:    But he does it on your behalf.


(c)  Satsvarupa is saying "he (the guru) does it on your (Srila Prabhupada's) behalf.  Not that He [Srila Prabhupada] is guru and he [Srila Prabhupada] does it on your [Srila Prabhupada's] behalf.  That is obviously nonsensical.  This portion of the dialogue confirms there is no indication to the querant (Satsvarup) that the respondent (Prabhupada) is establishing himself as an in absentia diksa guru. 
TFO asserts that Satsvarup is saying "he" (the ritvik), but in fact, the dialogue indicates that when Satsvarupa says "he", he means "guru", not "ritvik".  In other words, based on tense and pronoun, Satsvarup is clearly referring to the initiators as gurus.  Whether they are ritviks, ritvik officiators, ritvik gurus, regular gurus, diksa gurus, or something else is not the point here.  The point is that Satsvarupa is referring to guru:   guru initiates on Srila Prabhupada's behalf. 
He, the guru, is obviously the officiating acarya/ritvik acarya who is giving first and second initiation after Srila Prabhupada's departure.  All of the dialogue up to this point supports that interpretation.  In none of the transcript versions do we find a question mark at the end of Satsvarupa's statement and likewise, the audio indicates that Satsvarupa is giving an acknowledgement, not asking a question when he says,  But he does it on your behalf.
Whether or not Satsvarupa had a conception of what ritvik meant, we don't know.  According to all but one transcript, Tamal Krsna inserted the term ritvik in the conversation.  In the audio recording [APX-7a] there is no pause between Srila Prabhupada saying He's guru, and Satsvarupa's clarifying statement, But he does it on your behalf.  Again, our interpretation of the audio recording is that Satsvarupa was making an affirming statement, not asking a question.

It's interesting to note that in Surrealist Transcript #2, this question from Tamal Krsna, Is that called ritvik acarya? And Srila Prabhupada's reply, Ritvik. Yes. were struck from the transcript by someone editing it.  

It's also important to note that this mention of ritvik on May 28th appears to be the first time the term was used outside of Srila Prabhupada's Bhagavatam lectures -- and during his lectures, he never used the term in the context of initiations.  One could fairly assume, therefore, that Satsvarupa may have been completely unfamiliar with the word ritvik in the context of initiations, thus his question:  Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and the...?  

The lack of certainty regarding introduction of the term ritvik, and how familiar the devotees were with the term, or how well they understood its meaning and proper application must also be taken into consideration with respect to Tamal Krsna's introduction of the term again, in the July 9th Letter.  

If we are correct in assuming that Satsvarupa personally, and on behalf of his associates, was hoping to get Prabhupada's authorization for them to become diksa gurus and/or succeeding acaryas, then:

Prabhupada:  Yes. I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya(s).

Satsvarupa:  (Then) What is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and ...

Prabhupada:  He's guru. He's guru.

One would think that Satsvarupa would have stopped there, while he was ahead.  The initiators or officiating acarya(s) were just called 'guru' by Srila Prabhupada.  Not diksa guru, or siksa guru… just guru.  But surely that would have been enough for the senior men to go on in later proclaiming that the named officiating acaryas were to be diksa gurus.

Why then, would Satsvarupa push on, saying, "But he does it on your behalf"? Whether this was a question or a statement, it certainly injects into the conversation a note of uncertainty that Prabhupada meant the officiating acaryas should be diksa gurus.  But he does it on your behalf would also seem to indicate a reference to rtvik, or proxy diksa.

So even if the Q&A initiated by Tamal Krsna's question, Is that called ritvik acarya? was eliminated from the conversation, still Satsvarupa appears to be asking for or re-stating confirmation that the initiations are to be done on Srila Prabhupada's behalf.

Several important points and questions have been identified thus far in the May 28th dialogue:

1.  After what is settled up, will Prabhupada recommend officiating acarya(s)? [a]
 2.  In answering "He's guru", SP was clearly referring to the officiating acarya/ritvik acarya who is giving first and second initiation after his departure.  [b-c]
3.  Satsvarup's line of inquiry indicates that he did not have a clear understanding 

of the term "ritvik" in the context of initiations.   [b-c]
Up to this point in the dialogue, the foundation that Rtvik-vada built upon the May 28th Conversation has been progressively crumbling.  From this point onward, it collapses entirely.
LINE 8 – SRILA PRABHUPADA:  

1) Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf, on my order... Amara ajnaya guru hana. Be actually guru, but by my order.


2) Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf.  On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, he is actually guru.  But by my order.


3) Yes. That is formality, because in my prescence one should not become guru.So on my behalf , on my order amar ajnaya guru haina he is actually guru but by my order.


4) Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru,so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order.


5) Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, be actually guru. But on my order.


6) Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf, on my order... Amara ajnaya guru hana. Be actually guru, but by my order.


7) Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, be actually guru. But by my order.

8) Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, be actually guru, but by my order.

	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru,


	Because in my [possessive adjective, 1st person] presence one [singular object pronoun, 3rd person] should not become [verb, present tense] guru,

	so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order.


	on my behalf. On my order [singular possessive adjective, 1st person, future continuous and present continuous tense]




There are many important points to be made about this statement by Srila Prabhupada.  

First, it provides yet another proof that SP was not referring to himself in his earlier reply, "He's guru”:

1) The conversation opens in the context of a discussion about initiations after SP's departure; 
2) SP says that after some (unknown) event, he'll recommend some officiating acaryas; 
3) he affirms the label, ritvik acarya; 

4) Satsvarup asks about the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and…; 

5) SP says, "He's guru”; 

6) Satsvarup confirms, "But he does it on your behalf"; 

7) SP clarifies "Yes"… Because in my presence one should not become guru."
This is the crux of the Rtvik-vada position.  Asserting that SP was referring to himself as "He's guru”, the TFO next argues that Srila Prabhupada's deft answer (Line 8) clears away all confusion.  But in fact, the opposite is true.  Srila Prabhupada has very clearly indicate that the statement, "He's guru.” does not refer to him.  Nor does this conversation clarify how the terms "ritvik acarya" and "guru" relate to one another.  Are they completely synonymous, or are there some distinguishing features between the two?   

(a)  Most importantly, TFO does not comment on the fact that SP has said:

"After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating 
acarya(s)

 whereas the July 9th Letter says:
"Srila Prabhupada indicated that soon He would appoint some of His senior disciples to act as "rittik" - representative of the acarya, for the purpose of performing initiations, both first initiation and second initiation."

The M28C began in the context of a discussion about initiations after SP's departure.  He indicates that at some point in future, he'll recommend some officiating acarya(s).  A few days later, in the July 9th Letter, eleven "rittik" representatives of the acarya were named -- representatives of the acarya, not acaryas themselves -- and these eleven were instructed on how to conduct initiations while SP was present (and receiving names for his book of initiates; "India, I am here").
More will be said on the above points elsewhere in our analysis.  For now, let us stay focused on the specific line of dialogue being dealt with:
"Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order."
Over the years, this particular statement has been the catalyst for a great deal of confusion and churn in the guru-tattva debate.  Aside from the obvious reasons for confusion -- the failings of conditioned souls that have driven contentious debate on guru-tattva since time immemorial -- this particular statement from the M28C is comprised of a number of technical elements that lend themselves to disparate interpretation.
This statement, as it fits into the context of the conversation thus far, is difficult to apply in making a conclusive interpretation, in part because of faulty referential shifts from first person to third person that are made throughout the dialogue.  For example, in Line 8 we have an apparent shift in tense (time reference).  Up to this point, all verb elements appear to refer to future tense.  Here, however, Srila Prabhupada switches to present tense:  do not become guru in my presence.
In addition, we have three spelling variations:  prescense, amar, and haina in the different transcripts.  And we have a variation between he is and be 'actually guru'.  In the latter variation, the importance of punctuation also comes into play.  

Our interpretation of the audio recording is that Srila Prabhupada emphasized the word not in saying one should not become guru.  We do not hear the word so spoken.

Let us again consider the passage in context.  Up to now, the clear message is that:  he, the guru (the officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya) is to give first and second initiation after Srila Prabhupada's departure.

Q:  But he does it on your behalf.

A:  Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order.


(b)  Thus far, all references have been to a system of initiations after Srila Prabhupada's departure.  SP has acknowledged Satsvarup's query about how initiations are to be done after his departure.  Satsvarupa then affirms, "But he does it on your behalf".  And at this point, SP begins to address present time, not future time.  He does so by way of offering a rationale for the system as it operates while he is present.  

Unquestionably, at this point in the dialogue, Srila Prabhupada is not referring to initiations at a time after his departure.  Rather, he is referring to initiations being done on his behalf while he is present:  "Because in my presence…"  Such initiations done in his presence are done as a formality, on his behalf, because in his presence one should not become (diksa) guru.  This is the obvious meaning of the statement, as presented in all eight transcript versions.  

There are many elements found in the discussion syntax that support this interpretation.  

Yes – affirming the previous affirming statement, "He does it on your behalf". 

That is formality – what is formality?  Initiating on Prabhupada's behalf.

Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf, on my order... [ ] be actually guru
In English grammar, when the word because is used at the start of a sentence, it is known as a subordinating conjunction.  It is 'subordinate', because it introduces another independent clause – the element that makes the sentence complete.  In this case, what the word because conjuncts or joins together is the phrase, That is formality… because… in my presence one should not become guru.  Thanks to the word because, we have a complete sentence rather than a fragmented one, because the thought is complete.  

The interpretation Rtvik-vadis offer is that thus far, the conversation states:

he, the guru (the officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya) 

will give first and second initiation 

after Srila Prabhupada's departure,

on Prabhupada's behalf.

                 | |

Initiating on Prabhupada's behalf is a formality

because in his presence, 

one should not become guru.

(c)  Thus Srila Prabhupada has switched the discussion from being about initiations after his departure, to those carried out while he is present.  The Rtviks deal with this time frame segue by conveniently tacking the on your behalf portion of the phrase to the first part of the exchange, rather than the latter.  
What they fail to acknowledge, however, is that in making the statement, "But he does it on your behalf", Satsvarup is not asking a question, he is making an affirmative statement.  Srila Prabhupada immediately replies with a statement of clarification -- and his clarification puts the 'on my behalf' element into present time, not future time.  

Before delving further into the meaning of this exchange, we should note that in the eight transcripts, there are several variations in punctuation for this statement.  In most transcripts, the word so is shown after a comma, as a continuation of the sentence.  But in one (a transcript not presented by TFO), So begins a new sentence.  Regardless, both versions represent the independent clause being joined by the subordinating conjunction, because.    
"Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order."

That (initiating on my behalf) is formality… because… in my presence one should not become guru.  So on my behalf, on my order… [ ] be actually guru.  But again, in our interpretation of the audio recording, the word so is not spoken at all.

In addition, we have the variation between he is and be 'actually guru'.  Our interpretation of the audio is that Srila Prabhupada said:  be actually guru, but by my order.  The comma punctuation is clearly indicated in the audio, rather than a period and new sentence, But on my order.  Regardless, the significance of this differing punctuation is restricted to the subject of the guru.  In the sentence, 'On my order… he is actually guru' it is clear that the he referred to is that very same officiating initiator that has been described thus far.  There is no question as to who he is.  In the sentence, 'On my order, be actually guru', there is still no room for confusion.  Be actually guru refers to whom?  Obviously, to that same person referred to in one should not become guru --  the officiating initiator referred to all along.

Let us consider Srila Prabhupada's statements on their own in the dialogue thus far:

"Yes. I shall recommend some of you. After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya(s). 

Rtvik, yes.

He's guru. He's guru.

Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru,so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order."

The obvious anomaly that cannot be ignored in this dialogue is the context of Srila Prabhupada's statement, "Because in my presence…"   If he was referring to initiations after his departure, why would he revert to talking about initiations while he was present?  Satsvarupa opened the dialogue by specifically referring to after his departure.  It was confirmed that the initiating acarya(s) conducting initiations after his departure are ritviks, and that the officiating initiator is guru.  The controversial aspect of the phrase is the Rtvik interpretation that this is being done on Prabhupada's behalf.  
"That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf".    

But according to the Rtvik interpretation, one would have to accept this syntax:


After my departure


officiating acarya gurus will initiate


on my behalf.
That is formality because 

in my presence one should not become guru

Again, there is no way to understand this except to a) acknowledge that the phrase represents an apparent contradiction, or b) admit that SP has shifted his comment from future time to present time: his statement of clarification puts the 'on my behalf' element into present time, not future time.  

Instead, Rtvik adherents interpret the dialogue this way:  that Srila Prabhupada has said  'post-samadhi rtvik diksa is simply a formality… the ritvik priests give diksa by proxy, and I take the burden as diksa guru'.    Of course, the May 28th Conversation says nothing of the kind.
Prabhupada has said in this conversation that sometime in future, he will name officiating ritvik acaryas who will be gurus, initiating after his departure.  He does not say that they will be conducting post-samadhi rtvik diksa initiations on his behalf.  And in the July 9th Letter, he names 11 rittik" representatives of the acarya -- representatives, not acaryas.  

The Rtvik-vadis have married together their incorrect interpretation of the July 9th Letter with an equally incorrect interpretation of this statement (Line 8) in the M28C, thus asserting that "on my behalf", when read together with the July 9th Letter, stands as proof of the Rtvik conclusion.  But it certainly does not.  Both half of the equation are based on flawed interpretation. 
Heralding this flawed interpretation, the Rtvik-vadis say they were engaging in exactly the same role while Srila Prabhupada was present, from the July 9th Letter (and even before) onward.  They were acting as ritvik representatives, initiating on Srila Prabhupada's behalf, while he was present.  According to the Ritvik-vadis, they were not diksa gurus then, just ritvik representatives acting as siksa gurus, so there is no contradiction with Prabhupada's statement here in the M28C that they cannot be guru while he is present.  According to the Ritvik interpretation of this Conversation, Srila Prabhupada is instructing that he will name officiating (ritvik) acarya(s) to initiate after his departure, and they will be gurus -- but siksa gurus, not diksa gurus. 

(d)  Again, they have failed to understand this portion of the conversation, and SP's segue from future time to present time.  They have failed to acknowledge the difference between an (officiating/rittik) acarya, and representatives of Srila Prabhupada, the acarya.  And, they have failed to recognize that the July 9th Letter, and the July 7th Conversation that preceded it, show that SP was describing a system in which he would be present -- not a system that goes on after his departure.

Let us now consider some of the other problematic aspects of this exchange:

Satsvarupa:  But he does it on your behalf.

Prabhupada:  Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order.
From a technical standpoint, the words because and so are problematic elements in this statement by Srila Prabhupada.  Yes. That [initiating on my behalf] is formality can be understood as an affirmation of the preceding statement, But he does it [he initiates after your departure] on your behalf.  This is the interpretation the Rtviks employ.  However, Srila Prabhupada qualifies his statement by making a clear, unarguable change from future tense to present tense:
Yes [he initiates on my behalf] … Because in my presence one should not 

become guru, so on my behalf.

Clearly, SP is speaking here about initiations being done on his behalf while he is present.  He is not referring to future initiations -- even though that's the context of the conversation up to now.  Because of Satsvarupa's affirming statement, "But he does it on your behalf", SP has made a statement of clarification.   

The context of the conversation, from the beginning, has been about future initiations, after SP's departure.  But Satsvarupa opened the door to a mistaken understanding that "doing it on your behalf" means doing future initiations, after SP's departure, on his behalf.  Therefore SP qualified with his answer -- he clarified that on my behalf refers to initiations being done during his presence:  Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf.

There are three ways the dialogue could be interpreted:
1) Yes, in my presence one should not become guru, so in my presence, one should initiate on my behalf as a formality.

2) Yes, initiating on my behalf after my departure is a formality, because in my presence one should not become guru.  

3) Yes, in my presence one should not become guru, so in my presence, it is formality to initiate on my behalf.  Likewise, after my departure you will initiate on my behalf, as a formality, because in my presence one should not become guru.

Clearly, it is only sentence #1 that makes sense, both grammatically, according to Srila Prabhupada's lila practices, and as congruent with sastra.  Sentence #2 does not make sense.  Sentence #3 emphasizes that fact by putting the first two statements in close context.

Rtvik-vadis often try to resolve this difficulty by pointing to the July 9th Letter, cobbling the Conversation and Letter together by way of the term ritvik.  Because similar terms were used on both occasions (the term "rittik" was used in the July 9th Letter, not "ritvik"), the Rtviks attempt to bridge the meaning of the two messages together in ways that resolve the problems we have been highlighting here, which defeat their Rtvik-vada conclusions.  But the "ritvik" bridge fails to serve that purpose.   It does not eliminate elements in the Conversation dealing with time frame (future time/present time, or after departure/during presence).  It does not change the reality that SP was not referring to himself when he said, "He's guru".   Nor does attempting to use the term 'henceforward' solve these dilemmas.  'Henceforward' refers to an optional action the temple presidents may choose to take.  It does not refer to an action on the part of the rittik representatives themselves.

Some devotees try to make sense of this portion of the Conversation by focusing on the numerous variations in punctuation, for example:

That is formality.  Because in my presence one should not become guru

That is formality, because in my presence one should not become guru

This variation is of little help in the argument, since the word because (a subordinating conjunction) simply joins together formality and in my presence.  There is really no sensible argument to be made about it.  The variation that is more open to subjective interpretation is:
so on my behalf.  On my order... be actually guru

so on my behalf, on my order... be actually guru

Emphasizing the second version, some devotees suggest that on my behalf is synonymous with on my order, as evidenced by the separating comma (i.e., it is a series of two things).  

"Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order."
Some Rtviks attempt to argue away what are for them, problematic elements of this statement by admitting that yes, on my behalf obviously refers to in my presence, but on my order…be actually guru cancels this out.  They say on my order cancels out the 'in my presence' timeframe because a) it refers to the July 9th Letter, in which 'henceforward' proves a post-samadhi order; or b) it refers to the statement in this Conversation, I shall recommend some of you.

Both of these are faulty arguments.  First, on my behalf simply does not mean the same thing as on my order.  On my behalf means 'do it for me', whereas on my order means 'do it when I instruct'.   The July 9th Letter does not fulfill the predictive statement, on my order…be actually guru, as we have clearly shown.   Nor is the element of timeframe resolved in the Rtviks' favor by asserting that I shall recommend some of you equates to on my order…be actually guru.  
Finally, we have the last sentence in the statement:  But by my order."  Srila Prabhupada's use of the word "but" is significant, because it suggests a modifying statement.  In grammar, it's called a conjunction.  But information from the previous clause can be left, instead of being repeated:  be actually guru BUT [On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana] by my order.  Srila Prabhupada is confirming, via the conjunctive qualifier, but, that one must have his order to be guru.  
(d)  Again, this is not an element the Rtviks emphasize, because no such order was ever given by Srila Prabhupada.  In the July 9th Letter, he gave the instruction for 11 men to serve as "rittik" representatives of the acarya -- not acaryas themselves.  He did not later change that instruction, for anyone to become acaryas instead of representatives of the acarya.  Nor during his manifest presence, did he give the instruction for anyone to become diksa guru or officiating acarya.  
In this statement, we see that Srila Prabhupada has affirmed the intention of his message no less than five ways, in this single sentence:
"Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order."

in my presence one should not become guru

so on my behalf (you initiate while I am present)

On my order (be guru)
amara ajnaya guru hana (In this way become a spiritual master)

But by my order

LINE 9 – SATSVARUPA GOSWAMI:  

1. So they may also be considered your disciples.


2. So they may also be considered your disciples?


3. So they may also be considered your disciples?


4. So (then) (they) (they'll) (may) also be considered your disciples?


5. So they maybe considered your disciples?


6. So they may also be considered your disciples.


7. So they may be considered your disciples?

8. So they may also be considered your disciples?

	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	So (then) (they) (they'll) (may) also be considered your disciples?

	So (then) (they) (they'll)  [plural pronoun, 3rd person - could be subject or object pronoun] (may) also be considered your [singular possessive adjective, 2nd person] disciples?




It's important to note that Satsvarupa is not speaking in 1st person here, although TFO erroneously says that he is:  [EF 52]  
"Lines 14-15: Interestingly at this point Satsvarupa dasa Goswami asks a question in the first person: 'So then they'll also be considered your disciples?' Srila Prabhupada answers 'Yes, they are disciples...' Once more confirming the ownership of any future disciples. Although it is not clear what Srila Prabhupada is going on to say, his initial answer is quite definite. He is asked a direct question, in the first person, and he answers 'Yes'."
In the audio recording [APX-7a], there is no question in our mind that the statement is, So they may also be considered your disciples?  This is how the statement is represented in several versions of the transcript. 
(e)  Again, from the standpoint of English syntax and grammar, this is an anomalous statement in the context of the discussion.  It is anomalous primarily because Satsvarup has incorrect inserted the question into the conversation.  Satsvarup first referred to the officiating acaryas, asking if they are ritviks.  He then asks a partial question about the relationship between the initiator and (presumably the disciple).  Prabhupada confirms, with "He's guru".  Satsvarup then asks on whose behalf the guru acts, and Prabhupada explains, saying it's a formality in my presence, and "on my order" …be actually guru.  And then, Satsvarup incorrect interjects the question, "So (then) (they) (they'll) (may) also be considered your disciples?"
But who are these disciples?  He is not specific in posing the question.  Technically, because the subject of the disciples has not yet been specifically broached in this conversation, it cannot be definitively said who they refers to in this statement.  So they may also be considered your disciples undoubtedly means disciples initiated by someone.  Who the initiator is, is open to interpretation.  In addition, whether Satsvarupa in asking, or Srila Prabhupada in answering, is referring to disciples who have been initiated during Prabhupada's presence, or after his departure -- that is also not known.
So (then) (they) (they'll) (may) also be considered your disciples?
Were they initiated during Prabhupada's presence, on his behalf, by rittik representatives of the acarya, thus becoming Prabhupada's own direct diksa disciples?  

Were they initiated after Prabhupada's departure by rittik representatives of the acarya (who had no order to continue such activity after Prabhupada's departure), thus becoming Prabhupada's own direct diksa disciples only in the minds of the errant representatives?  

Were they initiated after Prabhupada's departure by ritvik officiating acaryas (the authorization for whom does not exist), on Prabhupada's behalf, thus becoming Prabhupada's own direct diksa disciples?  

Or were they initiated after Prabhupada's departure, on his order, by one who is actually guru?  

If the latter, are they the actual guru's direct diksa disciples, or are they Srila Prabhupada's diksa disciples by rtvik (in a post-samadhi rtvik diksa system for which no authorization exists)?  

From the standpoint of historical hindsight, all might seem to be viable possibilities.  But we must interpret it in the context of this conversation:
Q:  But he does it on your behalf.

A:  Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order.
Q:  So they may also be considered your disciples?
There is obvious confusion on Satsvarup's part in this conversation, therefore the conversation is anomalous.  Srila Prabhupada thus offers another statement of clarification in his next answer:
A:  Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who 
Before moving on to analyze this answer, there is one more variant to consider:  
So they may also be considered your disciples?
About half the transcripts indicate "may also be considered", while the rest say "may be considered", or "maybe considered".  Our interpretation of the audio is:  "So they may also be considered your disciples?"
The word may indicates an option; not that they will be considered. In half the transcripts, may is paired with also -- they may also be considered your disciples.  Also begs the question… in addition to what?  

may also be considered your disciples … just like the initiates who have been (or were supposed to have been) processed all along by your representatives?

may also be considered your disciples … the initiating ritvik is guru, and the disciples are his, but they are also Prabhupada's disciples?  (Perhaps they will not become the ritvik guru's disciples solely until he is given the order to be actually guru?)

Fortunately, Srila Prabhupada does not allow this confusion to linger, as the remainder of the conversation shows.

LINE 10 – SRILA PRABHUPADA:  

1. Yes, they are disciples. Why consider? Who?


2. Yes, they are disciples, but consider who...


3. Yes, their disciples but consider who...


4. Yes, they are disciples, (but) (why) consider ... who


5. Yes, they are disciples but consider... who...


6. Yes, they are disciples. Why consider? Who?


7. Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who

8. Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who 
	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	Yes, they are disciples, (but) (why) consider ... who


	they are disciples [plural subject pronoun, 3rd person]
(why) consider ... who [too fragmentary to categorize grammatically]




We remind the reader that in the question preceding this answer, Satsvarupa was not speaking in 1st person, as TFO states.    The question was posed to Srila Prabhupada in a mixed tense of 3rd and 2nd person, and Prabhupada answered in 3rd person.

Although up to this point, two elements of the conversation remain unclear:

References meaning while present vs. after departure; and 

what they may also be considered refers to (in addition to what?)

we can see that in the remainder of the conversation, Srila Prabhupada clearly sets the record straight (emphasis added):

Satsvarupa:    So they may also be considered your disciples?

Prabhupada:  Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who 
Tamal Krsna:  No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?

Prabhupada:  They are his disciples.

Tamal Krsna:  They're his disciples.

Prabhupada:  Who is initiating ... he is grand-disciple ...

Although the sentence is fragmentary, the most obvious interpretation of 

Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who  

is this:  consider the circumstances, consider who – who is doing what, for what reason, for whom?  With this statement, Srila Prabhupada appears to be referring to what we have pointed to as the seeming contradiction regarding tense/timeline:  diksa initiations while present, or after departure?  

The audio indicates that Srila Prabhupada put significant emphasis on the word "who":
A:  Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who 
The audio also indicates that he stopped speaking after the word "who", not that he was cut off by Tamal Krsna.

Consider who is being initiated, and when? -- Srila Prabhupada's statement makes complete sense in the context of the previous dialogue, in which Satsvarup shows his confusion.

(f)  The rittik (representative of the acarya) is initiating on Prabhupada's behalf because in his presence one should not become guru.  Yes, they are disciples, but consider… who  -- consider who is initiating, on whose behalf, and when?  While Prabhupada is still present, they are his disciples.  The rittik representatives of the acarya are initiating on his behalf.

After Prabhupada's departure, those who have been given diksa initiation are also initiated disciples.  Yes, they are disciples, but consider… who  -- consider who is initiating, on whose behalf, and when?  
There are several possible answers:

1) After Srila Prabhupada's departure, the same representatives who had been performing initiations all along, making diksa disciples on Prabhupada's behalf, continue to serve as Rtviks, initiating on Prabhupada's behalf, making direct diksa disciples for Prabhupada
(Except there is no order from Srila Prabhupada for the rittik representatives of the acarya to conduct post-samadhi rtvik diksa initiations)

2) After Srila Prabhupada's departure, the same representatives who have been performing initiations all along, making diksa disciples on Prabhupada's behalf, will automatically become diksa gurus, initiating on their own behalf, making their own direct diksa disciples
(Except there is no order from Srila Prabhupada for any such automatic progression, nor is there any order for the rittik representatives of the acarya to progress to becoming actual guru -- On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) actually guru. But by my order)

3) Those Srila Prabhupada recommended sometime after May 28th to be officiating acaryas/ritviks/siksa gurus, who were initiating during Prabhupada's presence on his behalf, will continue to serve as rtviks after his departure, initiating on his behalf and making direct diksa disciples for Prabhupada.

(Except there is no order from Srila Prabhupada for the rittik representatives of the acarya to progress to becoming actual officiating acaryas themselves)

4) Those Srila Prabhupada recommended sometime after May 28th to be officiating acaryas/ritviks/diksa gurus, who were initiating during Prabhupada's presence on his behalf, will automatically become diksa gurus, initiating on their own behalf and making their own direct diksa disciples.

(Except there is no order from Srila Prabhupada for the rittik representatives of the acarya to progress to becoming actual officiating acaryas/diksa gurus themselves)

5) Those Prabhupada recommended sometime after May 28th to be officiating acaryas/ritviks/gurus will initiate on his behalf, making direct diksa disciples for Prabhupada while he is present.  After his departure, only those who receive his order will be actually guru, initiating on their own behalf, making their own direct diksa disciples.  

(Except during his manifest presence, Srila Prabhupada gave no order for any of the rittik representatives of the acarya to progress to becoming actual officiating acaryas/diksa gurus themselves)

It is very important to note the actual May 28th dialogue in this regard (emphasis added):

Prabhupada:   After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as 


             officiating acarya(s).

Tamal Krsna: Is that called ritvik acarya?

Prabhupada:  ritvik. Yes.

The July 9th Letter states (emphasis added):

"Srila Prabhupada indicated that soon He would appoint some of His senior disciples to act as "rittik" - representative of the acarya, for the purpose of performing initiations, both first initiation and second initiation. His Divine Grace has so far given a list of eleven disciples who will act in that capacity:"

(e)  This is a very interesting difference in terminology.  On May 28th, the reference was to officiating acarya(s), and ritvik acarya. The July 9th Letter, however, states that Srila Prabhupada has appointed eleven disciples to act as "rittik" - representative of the acarya.  Nowhere do we find the statement that an officiating acarya/ritvik acarya is the same things as a "rittik" representative of the acarya.  

Furthermore, the July 9th Letter does not specifically reference the May 28th Conversation.  It is certainly possible that there was another meeting in which an instruction was given.  And in fact, the instructions as characterized in the May 28th Conversation and the July 9th Letter do not match.  In the Conversation, Srila Prabhupada said "After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating acarya(s)."  In the July 9th Letter, Tamal Krishna states that Srila Prabhupada indicated he would soon appoint disciples to act as "'rittik" - representative of the acarya."  In the absence of evidence to prove these are one and the same, we must acknowledge that there is a substantive difference between the two statements of instruction. This difference in terminology is very relevant when discussing how the May 28th Conversation does or does not relate to the July 9th Letter.  
There is no evidence that the officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya Srila Prabhupada referred to on May 28th, who he would appoint after this [unknown event] is settled up, are one and the same as the eleven "rittik" representatives of the acarya named in the July 9th Letter.  An acarya and a representative of the acarya are two different things.   "Sunlight is existing in the sun, but sun is not present in the sunshine. Without sun there is no sunshine." (SP Lecture on Bg 4.42, Aug 4, 1976)

Given the absence of clarifying evidence to reconcile these two different statements, some devotees ask, how is it possible to determine who is authorized to conduct diksa initiations after Srila Prabhupada's departure?  Rtvik-vadis often use the argument that their interpretation must be accepted, because it's the only one that provides a way forward for initiations in ISKCON after Prabhupada's departure.

But in the remainder of this May 28th Conversation, Srila Prabhupada provides further clarity that solves the dilemma.  The other obvious way to reconcile the dilemma is by consulting Guru, Sadhu and Sastra.  The standing body of sastric instruction certainly explains how the disciplic succession is to continue after the departure of the Spiritual Master -- and Srila Prabhupada's instructions in the remainder of the May 28th Conversation perfectly match that sastric instruction.

Unless evidence is produced that Srila Prabhupada actually recommended acaryas – officiating, ritvik, or otherwise – then the instruction he has given in the May 28th Conversation cannot be assigned to some other group of individuals, no matter when, where, or under what circumstances they're operating.  

The May 28th Conversation does not, in and of itself, give authorization to anyone to conduct diksa initiations after Srila Prabhupada's departure – neither on his behalf, nor on their own behalf.  Likewise, the July 9th Letter does not contain any instruction for post-samadhi rtvik diksa initiations.  Sastra does give instructions for how diksa continues after the guru departs, and Srila Prabhupada has given instructions in the May 28th Conversation, particularly his concluding remark:
"When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru.  That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. That's it."

(f)  Clearly, on May 28th, Srila Prabhupada gave instructions for how diksa is to proceed… when he recommends some to act as officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya, and when, on his order, they become actually guru, regular guru.  
Because we do not have evidence that Srila Prabhupada recommended anyone to act as officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acarya, or diksa/regular guru, there is only one of the above 5 options that is supported by the May 28th Conversation, and by Guru, Sadhu and Sastra:

5)  Those Prabhupada recommended sometime after May 28th to be officiating 

acaryas/ritviks/gurus will initiate on his behalf, making direct diksa disciples for Prabhupada while he is present.  After his departure, only those who receive his order will be actually guru, initiating on their own behalf, making their own direct diksa disciples.  

Despite the fact that there is no evidence that Srila Prabhupada gave the order to any of the rittik representatives, or any other specific devotee, to become actual officiating acaryas/diksa gurus themselves, it would certainly be in line with sastra to accept that even after Srila Prabhupada's physical departure, one of his disciples could receive his order to be actually guru, regular guru.  Such an order could come in a dream or through other bona fide means, e.g., Book Bhagavat, Chaitya Guru.  

Now, some may argue that following the above logic, one could also claim that even after his departure, they have gotten from Srila Prabhupada his recommendation or order for them to act as officiating/ritvik acarya.  That is also a possibility.  But that notion cannot be stretched to cover a body of 11 men, suggesting they all got such a mystical instruction, which somehow validates the list of names in the July 9th Letter as being a group of 11 ritviks who will conduct post-samadhi rtvik diksa initiations.   
(g)  What makes that an impossibility is the rest of Srila Prabhupada's statements in the May 28th Conversation, which we are about to examine. They entirely preclude any such group authorization for a post-samadhi rtvik diksa scheme.  Of course, the Rtviks themselves say that the ritviks are not gurus, they are simply officiating representatives.  Yet on May 28th , Srila Prabhupada clearly said that those who would conduct diksa initiations after his departure (if and when he appointed them) would be gurus, and that the disciples would be their disciples.  

Srila Prabhupada established the potential for issuance of a recommendation for someone to act as officiating acarya/ritvik acarya, and that potential has direct bearing on statements in the discussion:

Prabhupada:   Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not 



become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru 



 hana, be actually guru. But by my order.

Satsvarupa:      So they may also be considered your disciples?
Prabhupada:    Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who
The disciples being referred to here can only belong to one of the following three categories:

those initiated by rittik representatives of the acarya;

those initiated by recommended officiating acarya(s)/ritvik acaryas; or

those initiated by one who (by my order) is actually guru.  

When listening to the audio, we note that Srila Prabhupada has emphasized two key words in this passage:  

in my presence one should not become guru
 and 

but consider ... who
The audio indicates that after the word who, Srila Prabhupada was not cut off by Tamal Krsna, although given the nature of Tamal Krsna's clarifying statement, it would be understandable if he had cut Prabhupada off at this point.  Rather, Prabhupada paused. 
Prabhupada:   Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not 



become guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru 



 hana, be actually guru. But by my order.

Satsvarupa:      So they may also be considered your disciples?
Prabhupada:    Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who
Tamal Krsna:  No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?

They are disciples, but consider who has initiated them?  Someone as a formality (a rittik representative of the acarya) initiating them on my behalf while I'm present?  Someone who has been recommended as an officiating/ritvik acarya?  Someone who has, by my order, initiated them as a regular diksa guru?  These are the all-important questions.  Fortunately, Srila Prabhupada makes the situation very clear as the Conversation continues.

LINE 11 – TAMAL KRSNA:  

1. No, he's asking that these rtvik-acaryas, they're officiating, giving diksa. Their... The people who they give diksa to, whose disciple are they?


2. No.  He is asking that these rtvik acaryas, they are officiating, giving diksa, the people who they give diksa to -- whose disciple are they?


3. No he is asking that these rittvik acaryas they are officiating giving diksa,the people who they give diksa to whose disciple are they.


4. No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they are officiating, giving diksa, (there)... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?


5. No. He is asking that these ritvik-acaryas, they are officiating, giving diksa, their - the people who they give diksa to - whose disciples are they?


6. No, he's asking that these rtvik-acaryas, they're officiating, giving diksa. Their... The people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?


7. No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they are officiating, giving diksa, their ... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?

8. No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?

	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they are officiating, giving diksa,


	He [singular subject pronoun, 3rd person] is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they [plural subject pronoun, 3rd person] are officiating, giving diksa,



	(there)... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?


	the people [plural object pronoun, 3rd person] who they [plural subject pronoun, 3rd person] give diksa to, whose [plural, possessive adjective] disciples are they [plural subject pronoun, 3rd person]?




First, let us revisit TFO's earlier argument, discussed above under Line 6, [(d)] that in his statement, "He's guru.  He's guru.", Srila Prabhupada was referring to himself.  TFO states:  

"Furthermore we know that he was definitely referring to himself since he answers the question in the singular ('his disciples...who is initiating'), having been asked the question about the ritviks in the plural ('these ritvik-acaryas')."

As we will continue to demonstrate, this is simply word jugglery. [WJ 22] [AE 13] [EL 28]  Srila Prabhupada's statements have been conveniently taken out of context and re-ordered by TFO authors.  The actual statements are this:  
Tamal Krsna:  No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they are officiating, giving diksa, (there)... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?
Prabhupada:  They are his disciples.
Tamal Krsna:  They are his disciples (?)
Prabhupada:  Who is initiating ... (his) (he is) grand-disciple ...

(e) Obviously, TFO's conclusion is incorrect.  The answer his disciples must be taken in reference to the prefacing word, they:  

they are officiating, giving diksa

the people who they give diksa to, 

whose disciples are they?
They is a plural subject pronoun, in 3rd person.  TFO's attempt to put the focus on singularity vs. plurality is a failed argument.  

Now, let us consider the syntax of the discussion at this point.  Except for Tamal Krsna's interjection of the question, Is that called ritvik acarya?, the entire conversation thus far has been a Q&A exchange between Srila Prabhupada and Satsvarupa.  In listening to the audio, we can hear that Srila Prabhupada puts emphasis on the word who.  Not wishing to be overly speculative, we can guess that Tamal Krsna may have jumped in at this point either because he felt some clarity was needed, or because he took Prabhupada's emphatic who as an indication of slight annoyance.  Whatever the motivation, Tamal Krsna re-stated Satsvarupa's question, quite accurately it seems.  In response, Srila Prabhupada became more pointed in his answer:  They are his disciples.  Again, when listening to the audio, we find that Srila Prabhupada has emphasized the word, his.  

Satsvarupa:     So they may also be considered your disciples?

Prabhupada:   Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who 
Tamal Krsna:  No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, 

         
giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose 


disciples are they?

Prabhupada:    They are his disciples.

Tamal Krsna:   They're his disciples. 

Prabhupada:    Who is initiating ... he is grand-disciple ...


[ ]

Prabhupada:    When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru.  That's 

   all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. That's it.

(h) Entering the conversation, Tamal Krsna says No, ending the immediate line of inquiry, and rephrasing the question, asking about these ritvik acaryas who are giving diksa.  He is clearly referring to the very same persons mentioned earlier in the conversation, who Srila Prabhupada says he will recommend as officiating/ritvik acaryas to give diksa after his departure.  There is no other way to interpret this element of the dialogue.  

The conversation began with an inquiry about initiations after departure.  Tamal Krsna is reaffirming the devotees' desire to get that information.   Prabhupada has already said that these ritvik acarya(s) are gurus.  He interjects that during his presence, initiation is a formality, on his behalf, but on his order, be regular guru.  

Satsvarupa:     So they may also be considered your disciples?

Prabhupada:   Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who 
Tamal Krsna:  No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, 

         
giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose 


disciples are they?

Prabhupada:    They are his disciples.

It's also interesting to note the break in Tamal Krsna's question:

"No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?"

He stops short of saying "their disciples", perhaps not wanting to be presumptuous.  He completes the query not on an assumption, but with a question:  the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?  In other words, he does this instead of stating to Srila Prabhupada, these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, giving diksa (to) their disciples...  then asking, whose disciples are they?  Understandable, because that would have been a faulty line or inquiry -- first calling them "their disciples", then asking "whose disciples are they?"
LINE 12 – SRILA PRABHUPADA:  

1. They're his disciple.


2. They are his disciples.

3. They are his disciple.

4. They are his disciples.

5. They are his disciples.

6. They're his disciples.

7. They are his disciples.

8. They are his disciples.

	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	They are his disciples.


	They [plural subject pronoun, 3rd person] are his [singular possessive pronoun, 3rd person] disciples.




The fact that Srila Prabhupada answers in 3rd person here does not serve as evidence in favor of TFO's conclusion – just the opposite.  If Srila Prabhupada had answered in first person, he would have said "They are mine" -- "They are my disciples".   If he had answered in second person, he would have said "They are yours" -- "They are your disciples".   But speaking in 3rd person, he said "They are his disciples".  There is absolutely nothing in this context to indicate that Srila Prabhupada, speaking in 3rd person, is talking about himself.  

Tamal Krsna's question was very clear:  "these ritvik acaryas [who you'll recommend to give initiations after you're no longer with us], they're officiating, giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?"

(f) If Srila Prabhupada was still referring to initiations while he was present – formalities, on his behalf – he would have said They are my disciples.  But the question clearly, unarguably referred to post-samadhi initiations, and the answer likewise referred to post-samadhi initiations.  This cannot be denied, although TFO asserts that Srila Prabhupada meant himself when he said They are his disciples.  There is nothing in either the syntax, grammar or context to support the notion that Prabhupada said his in place of my -- such a conclusion goes beyond wishful thinking.   

They [plural subject pronoun, 3rd person] are his [singular possessive pronoun, 3rd person] disciples.

There is no way to turn the 3rd person his into a 1st person statement.  Furthermore, Srila Prabhupada added emphasis to his answer, saying They are his disciples. 
LINE 13 – TAMAL KRSNA:  

1. They're his disciple.


2. They are his disciples?


3. Theyare his disciple.


4. They are his disciples (?)


5. They are his disciples.


6. They're his disciples.


7. They are his disciples.

8. They're his disciples. 
Tamal Krsna now repeats Srila Prabhupada's answer:  They're his disciples. As the audio indicates, Tamal Krsna does not pose this as a question or a show of uncertainty.  He repeats it affirmatively, definitively, as a confirmation.

Srila Prabhupada does not amend or clarify the statement.  Rather, he goes a step further to make sure that he is being understood.  
LINE 14 – SRILA PRABHUPADA:  

1. Who is initiating. He is granddisciple.


2. Who is initiating.  His grand-disciple.


3. Who is initiating... his grand disciple.


4. Who is initiating ... (his) (he is) grand-disciple ...


5. Who is initiating...His grand-disciple...

6. Who is initiating. He is granddisciple.


7. Who is initiating ... his grand disciple ...

8. Who is initiating ... he is grand-disciple ...

	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	Who is initiating ... (his) (he is) grand-disciple ...


	Who [relative (subject) pronoun, 3rd person, singular or plural] is initiating




(g) Although the word who sometimes indicates a question, we have several indications that is not the case.  First, the audio clearly indicates that Prabhupada's inflection is not that of a question, nor do any of the transcription put a question mark at the end of the statement.  Second, the rest of the statement, (his) (he is) grand-disciple ..., indicates that Prabhupada is making a statement of identification, not asking a question.  In this instance, who is grammatically referred to as a relative pronoun, i.e., it relates, or identifies a person.  

The who refers to the person who is initiating:  these ritvik acaryas, they are officiating, giving diksa
And while the sentence is fragmentary (again, very common in conversation), Prabhupada completes the statement by again answering the question:
Q:  …the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?   
A:  They are his disciples.
These ritvik acaryas, they are officiating, giving diksa, they are his disciples.  
He (that disciple) is grand-disciple.
Tamal Krsna:  No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, 

         
giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose 


disciples are they?

Prabhupada:    They are his disciples.

Tamal Krsna:   They're his disciples. 

Prabhupada:    Who is initiating ... he is grand-disciple ...

The Rtvik-vadis attempt to take advantage of this fragmentary sentence, trying to undo the reality that Srila Prabhupada has just said the initiated disciples are not his own – they are the disciples of the diksa initiator – call him rtvik acarya, officiating acarya, or diksa guru… the disciples are his.  

Srila Prabhupada goes on to affirm this one more time, saying it another way:  

When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru.  That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. That's it.

Some Rtvik-vadis try to take advantage of this fragmented sentence by interpreting it to say that the initiator is also the grand-disciple.  But obviously, the one who is initiated is not the one who is initiating.  Also obvious is that the grand-disciple is not the one who is initiating.  The grand-disciple is just that—a disciple.  He is the one who has been initiated.  

Rtvik-vadis sometimes suggest that grand-disciple was a brand new word being used here by Srila Prabhupada, thus they assign their own definition to it.  They suggest that the term does not refer to the actual initiated disciple, but to the rtvik initiator – that he who is initiating is the grand-disciple of Srila Prabhupada.  In doing so, they hope to create doubt that They are his disciples could mean anything except that they are Prabhupada's disciples.  But again, the argument utterly fails.   

Tamal Krsna:   They're his disciples. 

Prabhupada:    Who is initiating ... he is grand-disciple ...

Srila Prabhupada is affirming, yet again, that the disciples belong to the one who is initiating.  And the disciple – in reference to he, himself – is a grand-disciple.  While the Rtvik-vadis may suggest that grand-disciple is a new or rare term, in the English language the prefix grand is a very common  generational reference meaning 'one step removed'.  On numerous occasions, Srila Prabhupada demonstrated his understanding of English references to generation, e.g., in his comments on guru-parampara where he refers to generations.  
Srila Prabhupada's use of the term grand-disciple fits the conversation perfectly well, and the term is certainly inline with Gaudiya Vaisnava guru-tattva:  disciple of my disciple, or grand-disciple.  Srila Prabhupada gave a similar generational reference regarding spiritual masters rather than disciples, but the same generational principle applies.  In his lecture on Srimad Bhagavatam, January 12, 1968, Los Angeles, Prabhupada said:

"You'll be surprised to know that my grand-spiritual master, my spiritual master's spiritual master, he was illiterate. And my spiritual master was the learned, greatest learned scholar of his age. Now, how he became the disciple of an illiterate man? So, but that Gaura Kisora dasa Babaji Maharaja... His name was Gaura Kisora dasa Babaji Maharaja, my spiritual master's spiritual master, my grand-spiritual master."

The authors of "Disciple of my Disciple" [31] also offer a cogent argument on this point.  Referring to the Rtvik-vadis as "proxy-initiation adherents", they write:

"The proxy-initiation adherents would have Srila Prabhupada say, "I am initiating my granddisciple." Thus they admit that even according to their own view the new initiate is a granddisciple of Srila Prabhupada as opposed to the direct disciples initiated during Srila Prabhupada's physical presence. There would still be a one-generation difference between those initiated during Srila Prabhupada's physical presence and those initiated later. But how can some be direct disciples and others be granddisciples if the initiator is the same and pre-samadhi or post-samadhi makes no difference?"

As we near the end of this all-important section of the May 28th Conversation, there are a few relatively insignificant lines spoken (two or four, depending on the transcript version), as follows:

Tamal Krsna:
No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, 



giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose 



disciples are they?

Prabhupada:
They are his disciples.

Tamal Krsna:
They're his disciples. 

Prabhupada:
Who is initiating ... he is grand-disciple ...

Satsvarupa:
Yes
Tamal Krsna:   
(That's clear)

Tamal Krsna:   
(Let's go on) 
Satsvarupa:
Then we have a question conc...

Prabhupada:
When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru.  



That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. That's it.

Just for the record, a summary of these four lines follow: 

LINE 15 – SATSVARUPA GOSWAMI:  

1. Yes.


2. (Yes)


3. Yes.


4. Yes
LINE 16 – TAMAL KRSNA:  

1. That's clear.


2. (That's clear)


3. That's clear.


LINE 17 – TAMAL KRSNA:  

1. (Let's go on)

LINE 18 – SATSVARUPA GOSWAMI:  

1. Then we have a question concer...


2. Then we have a question concerning ...


3. Then we have a question conc ...


4. Then we have a question concerning...


5. Then we have a question concerning...


6. Then we have a question concer...


7. Then we have a question concerning...

8. Then we have a question conc...

	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	Then we have a question concerning ...


	Then we [subject pronoun, 1st person, plural] have a question




LINE 19 – SRILA PRABHUPADA:  

1. When I order, "You become guru," he becomes regular guru. That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. That's it.


2. When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru. That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. Just see.


3. When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru, that's all… he becomes disciple of my disciple, just see.

4. When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru.  That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. (That's it). (Just see). 


5. When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru. That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. Just see.

6. When I order, "You become guru," he becomes regular guru. That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. That's it..........


7. When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru. That’s all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. Just see.
8. When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru.  That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. That's it.
	DIALOGUE
	GRAMMAR & SYNTAX

	When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru.


	When I [subject pronoun, 1st person, singular] order [verb, present tense] you [subject pronoun, 2nd person, singular] become [verb, present continuous tense] guru, he [subject pronoun, 2nd person, singular] becomes [verb, present continuous tense] regular guru.



	That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. (That's it). (Just see). 


	He [subject pronoun, 2nd person, singular] becomes [verb, present continuous tense] disciple of my [possessive adjective, 1st person, singular] disciple.



Finally, we come to the last line in our study of this May 28th Conversation.  Here, Srila Prabhupada restates and reaffirms seven fundamental elements of the discussion:

1. When I order 

2. you become guru, 

3. he becomes regular guru.  

4. That's all. 

5. He becomes disciple 

6. of my disciple. 

7. That's it.

Srila Prabhupada's closing statement is very clear, it is fully congruent with all the preceding statements, it is fully in line with Gaudiya Vaisnava tradition and sastra, and it completely eradicates the Rtvik-vada argument:  

Tamal Krsna:  No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, 

         
giving diksa, their... the people who they give diksa to, whose 


disciples are they?

Prabhupada:    They are his disciples.

Tamal Krsna:   They're his disciples. 

Prabhupada:    Who is initiating ... he is grand-disciple ...


[ ]

Prabhupada:    When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru.  

   That's all. He becomes disciple of my disciple. That's it.
Finally, consider the full dialogue, in paired questions and answers, and carefully read Srila Prabhupada's final statement, in context (audio emphasis noted):


Q:  [Concerning] initiations in the future, particularly at that time when you are no 

      longer with us. We want to know how first and second initiation(s) would be 

      conducted.

A:  After this is settled up I shall recommend some of you to act as officiating 



acarya(s).

Q:  Is that called ritvik acarya?

A:  Ritvik. Yes.

Q:  Then what is the relationship of that person who gives the initiation and the...

A:  He's guru


Q:  But he does it on your behalf.

A:  Yes. That is formality. Because in my presence one should not become 

                         guru, so on my behalf. On my order, amara ajnaya guru hana, (he is) (be) 

                         actually guru. But by my order.

Q:  So they may also be considered your disciples? 

A:  Yes, they are disciples, but consider ... who
Q:  No. He is asking that these ritvik acaryas, they're officiating, giving diksa, 

 
their... the people who they give diksa to, whose disciples are they?

A:  They are his disciples.

Q:  They're his disciples. [confirming, not questioning]
A:  Who is initiating ... he is grand-disciple ... [ ]  

Prabhupada:  When I order you become guru, he becomes regular guru.  

That's all.  He becomes disciple of my disciple. That's it.
Obviously, Srila Prabhupada had no intention to elaborate any further at this point.  

(i) The TFO assertion that when Srila Prabhupada said "He's guru", he was talking about himself, is again proved wrong by this final statement.  When Srila Prabhupada says "He becomes regular guru", he certainly isn't talking about himself.  The Acarya does not become 'regular guru'.  

When Srila Prabhupada orders you to become guru, then you become regular guru.  And the initiated person – he is disciple of Prabhupada's disciple.  That's all.  That's it.  For all of TFO's incorrect application of English syntax and grammar, convenient interpretation of tense and referential pronoun, and outright word jugglery, Srila Prabhupada's message is undeniable:

The disciples who are initiated by ritvik acaryas that are officiating/giving diksa are the disciples of that initiator.  The disciples are grand-disciples of Srila Prabhupada's.  When Prabhupada orders, his disciples become regular guru, and those they initiate are the disciples of Prabhupada's disciple.

There is nothing in the May 28th Conversation – just as there is nothing in the July 7th Conversation or the July 9th Letter, or anywhere else for that matter – representing an instruction from Srila Prabhupada for a post-samadhi rtvik diksa system wherein candidates are initiated by proxy as Prabhupada's own diksa disciples.   This is the great asiddhantic fallacy known as Rtvik-vada. 
